Public Document Pack



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

Date: Monday, 30 October 2023 Time: 6.00pm Location: Council Chamber, Daneshill House, Danestrete, Stevenage Contact: Ian Gourlay (01438) 242703 committees@stevenage.gov.uk

Members: Councillors: C Parris (Chair), M McKay (Vice-Chair), S Barr, N Chowdhury, M Downing, J Duncan, C Howells, G Lawrence CC, Mrs J Lloyd, L Martin-Haugh, M Notley, G Snell, A Wells and T Wren.

AGENDA

PART I

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2. **MINUTES - 13 JULY 2023**

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the General Purposes Committee held on 13 July 2023. Pages 3-6

3. **REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE LIMIT**

To consider the report by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA), in relation to unmet demand for hackney carriage and rank provision, and to review the Council's current policy of limiting Hackney Carriage Vehicle (HCV) licence numbers.

Pages 7 - 80

4. **URGENT PART I BUSINESS**

To consider any Part I business accepted by the Chair as urgent.

5. **EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC**

To consider the following motions -

1. That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in Paragraphs 1 – 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as amended by Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006.

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports being in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public interest in disclosure.

6. URGENT PART II BUSINESS

To consider any Part II items accepted by the Chair as urgent.

Agenda Published 20 October 2023

Agenda Item 2

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE MINUTES

Date: Thursday, 13 July 2023 Time: 6.00pm Place: Council Chamber, Daneshill House, Danestrete, Stevenage

Present: Councillors: Claire Parris (Chair), Maureen McKay (Vice-Chair), Sandra Barr, Michael Downing, Chris Howells, Graham Lawrence CC, Mrs Joan Lloyd, Maureen McKay, Margaret Notley, Graham Snell, Anne Wells and Tom Wren.

Start / End	Start Time:	6.00pm
Time:	End Time:	6.28pm

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Nazmin Chowdhury.

There were no declarations of interest.

2 MINUTES - 24 MARCH 2022

It was **RESOLVED** that the Minutes of the meeting of the General Purposes Committee held on 24 March 2023 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

3 ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR

It was **RESOLVED** that Councillor Maureen McKay be elected as Vice-Chair of the Committee for the 2023/24 Municipal Year.

4 HACKNEY CARRIAGE TARIFF REVIEW

The Licensing Officer presented a report advising the Committee that the fixing of fares for hackney carriages within the Borough was governed by the Council by virtue of section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. This must be published by means of a tariff table. The last change in fares took effect on 2 April 2022, and a copy of the current tariff table was attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

The Licensing Officer reminded Members that the Committee, at is meeting held on 14 March 2022, had resolved that there should be an annual review of taxi tariffs.

The Licensing Officer stated that the Licensing Authority has undertaken preliminary consultation with the trade (all hackney carriage and private hire drivers and operators) to ascertain options to include in the consultation. A summary of the

results of the preliminary engagement survey was set out in Appendix 2 to the report.

The Licensing Officer explained that the three options agreed for the final consultation had been publicised via a Notice was advertised in the local press on 22 and 29 June 2023, and a copy made available for inspection at the Council offices for the same period in accordance with the legislation. In addition, all licensed drivers and licensed private hire operators in the Council's area were contacted via e-mail or letter advising them of the review consultation.

The Licensing Officer advised that the public notices required any comments or option preferences to be made in writing or through completion of a survey. Comments/option preferences had been received from 72 persons. 51 dual licensed drivers (22 as Hackney Carriage Drivers and 29 as Private Hire Drivers), 1 Private Hire Operator and 20 members of the public. A summary of the consultation survey response was attached as Appendix 6 to the report.

The Licensing Officer commented that Option 1 was to increase the mileage only; Option 2 was to increase the start price and the mileage; and Option 3 was no change to the tariffs. The survey responses to each of these options was set out in the report.

The Licensing Officer stated that the proposed Options 1 and 2 were considered warranted due to costs resulting from the common use of card payment facilities that incurred a transaction fee and the rising costs of living, incorporating fuel, maintenance, replacing vehicles and station permits. He referred to the detail of these rising costs, as set out in Paragraphs 4.6 to 4.8 of the report.

The Licensing Officer explained that in Stevenage hackney carriages were required by licence conditions to be fitted with taximeters. Private hire vehicles may also fit taximeters, and in practice many did, but the tariff only applied by law to hackney carriages. The extant tariff must be programmed into hackney carriage taximeters, which were then bound by the fare displayed on the meter at the end of the journey (ie. they must not charge any more than the figure displayed. Private hire drivers and operators had an interest in the hackney carriage tariff since it may be programmed into their taximeters, but in practice they were entitled to charge any fare they desired, provided it had been agreed with the passenger or passengers before a journey began.

The Committee asked a number of questions, which were answered as follows:

- there were approximately 250 hackney carriage/private hire drivers licensed in the Borough. The 20% response rate from the trade, and the 20 or so from the public, to the consultation compared favourably with the level of responses received from other local authorities, including a recent Transport for London consultation on hackney carriage tariffs which had elicited 823 responses for the whole of Greater London;
- the responses received to the SBC consultation were from a cross-section of the taxi trade; and
- the proposed tariffs applied only to journeys starting and ending in the Borough.

In response to comments made by Members, the Commercial & Licensing Manager agreed to investigate methods to widen the consultation process when consulting on future proposals for hackney carriage tariffs, in order to gather responses from a broader cross-section of the community.

On balance, and in view the rising cost of living, the Committee supported Option 2 (increase the start price and the mileage).

It was **RESOLVED:** that, Option 2 in the report be approved, thereby increasing the initial fare by 20p (£3.60 to £3.80) and Tariffs 1, 2 and 3 by 10%, so that with effect from a suitable date within 2 months from 20 July 2023, the hackney carriage tariffs will be:

- hackney carriage tariff 1 £3.80 for the first 528 yards, and 20p foreach additional 160 yards (or part thereof), to be applied to hirings between 06:00 and 23:00 hours Monday to Sunday;
- (b) hackney carriage tariff 2 £5.70 for the first 528 yards, and 30p for each additional 160 yards (or part thereof), to be applied to hirings between 06:00 and 23:00 hours Monday to Sunday and on designated bank/public holidays and Easter Sunday; between 18:00 to 23:00 hours on New Year's Eve; and between 18:00 hours and 24:00 hours on Christmas Eve;
- (c) hackney carriage tariff 3 £7.60 for the first 528 yards, and 40p for each additional 160 yards (or part thereof), to be applied to hirings between 00:01 and 24:00 hours on Christmas Day and Boxing Day; and between 23:00 hours on New Year's Eve and 06:00 hours on New Year's Day; and
- (d) the following additional charges be imposed:
- up to two items of baggage or shopping 20p *
- three or more items of baggage or shopping 40p (maximum) *
- for each person in excess of one 20p *

(* additional charges should total no more than £2.00, and must be added on the meter at the start of the journey)

• soiling charge (for whatever reason) - £50 (maximum)

5 URGENT PART I BUSINESS

None.

6 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Not required.

7 URGENT PART II BUSINESS

None.

<u>CHAIR</u>

Agenda Item 3



Part I – Release to Press

Meeting General Purposes Committee

Portfolio Area Community Safety and Equalities

Date 30 October 2023

REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE LIMIT

NON-KEY DECISION

Authors Christine Walker-Wells | 2247

Lead Officers Maurice Clay | 2175

Contact Officer Christine Walker-Wells | 2247

1 PURPOSE

1.1 To consider the report by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA), in relation to unmet demand for hackney carriage and rank provision, and to review the Council's current policy of limiting Hackney Carriage Vehicle (HCV) licence numbers.

2 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 2.1 That the recommendation at Section 9, first paragraph, page 55, to retain the current limit of 100 hackney carriage vehicles and licenses is approved.
- 2.2 That the consultant's recommendations regarding rank provision, set out in the second paragraph on page 55, are agreed.
- 2.3 That the siting of a new town centre taxi rank, following the relocation of the bus station, be investigated with partners and stakeholders.
- 2.4 That further assistance be provided to persons requiring wheelchair accessible vehicles to source and book them within Stevenage.

3 BACKGROUND

- 3.1 The Council is the licensing authority for the purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and Town Police Clauses Act 1847.
- 3.2 Members will be aware that this authority currently restricts the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences issued at any one time to 100.
- 3.3 At a meeting between the Chair and Vice-Chair of General Purposes Committee and the Commercial and Licensing Manager in October 2022, it was agreed that an unmet demand survey be undertaken in order to inform Members regarding future policy on the limitation of hackney carriage licence numbers. Following this, officers commissioned an independent consultant, Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA), to carry out this work which was completed between November 2022 and February 2023.
- 3.4 The consultant's report is attached at Appendix A. The survey work on which it is based included extensive consultation with the taxi and private hire trade, the public and other special interest groups of taxi users, as well as observation of taxi ranks. Officers accept the report's findings and recommendations which have been shared with the trade at a taxi forum meeting on 23 October 2023.
- 3.5 The key conclusion is that there is no significant demand for hackney carriages in the Stevenage licensing area which is currently unmet. The Council can therefore retain its current limit at the present level and can defend this in court if challenged.

4 DISCUSSION

- 4.1 The Department for Transport (DfT) in its Taxi and Private Hire Best Practice Guidance (BPG) establishes the process which licensing authorities must follow to justify limitation (the relevant extract of the guide appears at Appendix B). It seeks to provide information to the licensing authority to meet the requirements of section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 which states "that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is unmet."
- 4.2 Several sections of the BPG were revised by the introduction of the "Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards" (STPHVS) document on 23rd July 2020 but none of these resulted in any material change to the elements regarding unmet demand and its review. The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive practice and against natural economic trends. At the end of March 2022, consultation began on a fully revised version of the BPG, with responses due back by 20th June 2022 but no final date for acceptance of the revised document has been given.
- 4.3 Local authorities retain the ability to restrict the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusion (Law Commission, Taxi

and Private Hire Services, Law Com No 347, May 2014, ref CM8864) included retention of the power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilising a public interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three-year frequency for rank and accessibility reviews.

4.4 While DfT considers it best practice not to impose limits, where restrictions are imposed, it urges that the matter should be regularly reconsidered. It is suggested that the matter should be approached in terms of the interests of the travelling public. What benefits or disadvantages arise for them as a result of the continuation of controls; and what benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the controls were removed? Is there evidence that removal of the controls would result in deterioration in the amount or quality of taxi service provision?

5 SUMMARY OF SURVEY FINDINGS

- 5.1 The report by LVSA has considered the topics contained in paragraphs 45 to 51 of the BPG regarding issues that should be considered when reviewing quantity controls for hackney carriage licences.
- 5.2 The main findings are:
 - There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the Stevenage area which is significant and requires issue of any further standard hackney carriage licences at the present time.
 - There has been an estimated 44% overall reduction in passenger numbers since the last survey in 2017.
 - While app-based providers appear to have gained market share, there is also clear evidence that the hackney carriage trade appears to have remained relatively resilient in contrast to the decline in private hire vehicle numbers.
 - There remains a need for a central area rank.
 - Comparing the latest national rail usage to the estimated rank passenger departures suggests 10% of all rail arrivals at Stevenage station depart using hackney carriages from the rank there. Compared to the previous survey, rail passenger numbers are down 30%, whereas for the same period rank passengers are down 36%, a relatively similar figure.
 - Despite this, the issue of poor service to these customers remains at the train station rank. The rank is privately operated by Great Northern Railways and they permit hackney carriages/taxis to ply for hire. There is a monthly fee licenced drivers pay to access the rank. It is at this rank that unmet demand is seen.
- 5.3 The report recommends that:
 - There is need to identify a new town centre rank and encourage its use. This needs work between the trade, the council, Highways Authority and the shopping centre to work out ways that appropriate signing and advertising can be undertaken.

- The issue of poor service to a small number of vulnerable people requiring accessible vehicles must be dealt with to enable them to travel safely and appropriately – this mainly relates to ensuring the good provision in the hackney carriage fleet can be accessed by those preferring to book vehicles in advance.
- The option of a demonstration day for wheelchair and other accessible vehicles could be considered. This would allow the trade, councillors and those needing access to such vehicles either for themselves or for clients, such as care home representatives, to interact and build good will in this very important area. LVSA believes that this option would produce more positive results than any immediate issue of further wheelchair accessible vehicle licences.
- Within these discussions there may be need for agreeing a clear way that wheelchair accessible capable vehicles are clearly identified, e.g. with some form of label as some authorities provide (e.g. Leeds). The issue of producing a list of wheelchair vehicles and drivers should also be seriously considered and the conclusions of this publicised.
- These factors could be drawn together in an Integrated Service Plan as recommended by the currently draft new Best Practice Guidance.

6 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED COURSE OF ACTION AND OTHER OPTIONS

- 6.1 On the basis of the evidence gathered in the unmet demand survey, the key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages, either patent or latent, which is significant at this point in time in the Stevenage Borough Council licensing area. The Committee therefore has the option of retaining the current limit of hackney carriage vehicle numbers which could be defended if necessary.
- 6.2 The range of options available for the Committee's consideration regarding policy on limiting hackney carriage licence numbers are set out below:

Option 1 – Retain the current limit of 100 hackney carriage vehicles

This option is supported by the consultant's finding that there is no significant unmet demand and that the travelling public are not adversely affected. LVSA report contains a detailed response to the BPG considerations (see Appendix A) which apply to any decision to adopt this option.

Option 2 – Increase the number of hackney carriage licences gradually by a process of managed growth

The consultant has not recommended additional plates as there is no significant unmet demand to eliminate. This option would require further consultation to be carried out with stakeholders.

Option 3 – Delimit completely

This option would require further consultation to be carried out with stakeholders. If delimitation was identified as an appropriate course of action the Council would also need to consider the introduction of additional quality control requirements for new hackney carriage vehicle licences for which a separate consultation would be undertaken.

7 IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

7.1 In the event that option 1 is approved, the Council will need to fund a further independent review of taxi provision in the town no later than November 2025. This cost is likely to be in the region of £7,000 to £10,000.

Legal Implications

7.2 If option 1 or 2 receives approval, the LVSA survey and this report will assist the Council in its defence to appeals against refusals to grant any additional hackney carriage licences.

Risk implications

7.3 If an appeal against refusal to grant an additional hackney carriage licence was successful, this would have the effect of delimiting completely. The absence of a strategy in place to ensure that no sharp uncontrolled increase in vehicle numbers could result in an urgent need to reinstate a limit; this scenario occurred in Watford some years ago.

Community Safety Implications

7.4 Community safety is unlikely to be compromised due to accepting option 1. There is no current intelligence to indicate that the current hackney carriage fleet and the number in operation at any time gives rise to a risk. Should a risk be realised at any time, the Council will evaluate the fleet numbers accordingly.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

- BD1 Transport Act 1985
- BD2 Law Commission's Report on review of vehicle licensing law May 2014.

APPENDICES

- A Stevenage unmet demand survey; LVSA; June 2023
- B Extract of DfT Taxi and Private Hire Best Practice Guidance ; March 2010

APPENDIX A



Stevenage

Unmet demand survey

September 2023

Executive Summary

This unmet demand survey has been undertaken on behalf of Stevenage Borough Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet demand. This executive summary provides the key facts needed for councillors to determine their current view of the present policy limiting hackney carriage vehicle numbers in the Stevenage licensing authority area. It should not be relied upon without adequate reference to the full document from which it has been summarised.

The limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers has been in place for a significant period, and at least since 1994. Regular independent reviews are undertaken of this policy, as well as high level internal council consideration of this policy. This report is the latest external independent review of the hackney carriage industry which ran October 2022 to January 2023 and was undertaken by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment, a joint trading name of CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd and Vector Transport Consultancy.

Although the headline of a 44% reduction in passenger numbers since 2017 is a negative outcome from the survey, as is the loss of both the central and a key night time rank provision, many other positive points are identified. Hackney carriage vehicle numbers have been retained against a large drop in private hire fleet numbers, whilst the mixed vehicle fleet company has seen gains in share of quoted usage, both potentially public benefits of retention of the limit on vehicle numbers.

Despite a decline in rail passengers of 30% and of rank passengers from the station of 36%, 10% of all rail passengers still leave the station in hackney carriages from the rank. This is a good reduction in need for parking spaces as well as being a better use of motor vehicles than single use to and from the station. It appears, however, that the limit on vehicle numbers applied by the supplementary permit outside the jurisdiction of the council, is worsening service to this important group. Further analysis of the present data could be undertaken to clarify further if the additional restriction is the key factor or if something else is feeding this poorer service level at the station rank.

There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the Stevenage licensing area that is significant at this time which would require additional plate issue. However, there is significant need for the local authority, licensing and planners, to work with the County to identify location for a public town centre rank that could be developed.

Further recommendations are outlined within the body of the main report below.





Contents

Executive Summary	i
Contents	iii
1 General introduction and background	1
2 Local background and context	13
3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)	19
4 General public views	27
5 Key stakeholder consultation	33
6 Trade stakeholder views	35
7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance	41
8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions	47
9 Recommendations	55



1 General introduction and background

Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) is a joint venture between CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd (CTS) and Vector Transport Consultancy. These two companies have hitherto been the two leading practitioners of hackney carriage unmet demand surveys in recent years and who joined forces in early 2017. The combined experience of this joint venture covers in the order of 250 similar studies undertaken since 1999. The contracting company for this survey, CTS, also undertook previous tests of the validity of the limit and its level in 2017, 2014, 2005/6 and 2002 by formal independent surveys and in 2008 and 2011 by higher level reviews of the policy which determined no survey was necessary at those times. The survey due in 2020 was delayed by the COVID pandemic which took hold in March of that year.

Stevenage Borough Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing authority for this complete area. It retains a limit on the number of hackney carriage vehicles licensed. This is the only part of licensing where such a stipulation occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire vehicle numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the number of private hire operators can be limited. DfT sources do not state when the limit began, but it was in place at the start of formal data collection by the DfT in 1994.

Best Practice Guidance

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 "that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is unmet." This terminology is typically shortened to "no SUD".

Several sections of the BPG were revised by the introduction of the "Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards" (STPHVS) document on 23rd July 2020 (see further detail below). None of these resulted in any material change to the elements regarding unmet demand and its review. At the end of March 2022, consultation began on a fully revised version of the BPG, with responses due back by 20th June 2022 but no final date for acceptance of the revised document. An initial review suggested again no material change in the elements regarding unmet demand and its review.



Legal Background

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken within the legal frameworks set by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. This has been amended by various following legislation including the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference to private hire vehicles and operations. Many of the aspects of these laws have been tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly through case law.

Public Experience

Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as 'taxis' – a term we will try for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will use the term 'licensed vehicles' to refer to both hackney carriage and private hire.

Legislative Developments

The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive practice and against natural economic trends.

The five most recent reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through the production of the Best Practice Guidance in 2010 (BPG 2010), the Law Commission review which published its results in 2014, the All-Party Parliamentary Task and Finish Group which reported in September 2018, the Government Response in February 2019 leading to a part revision of BPG 2010, and the 2022 consultation on a more comprehensive BPG 2010 review (BG 22). None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved in licensing.

Legislative Additions

There have been some actual changes to legislation (not guidance) put in place over recent years.

The Deregulation Act 2015 had two clauses relevant to taxi licensing – relating to length of period covered by licences (Section 10) and allowance of operators to transfer work across borders (Section 11) (both enacted October 2015).

In November 2016, the Department of Transport (DfT) undertook its consultation regarding enacting Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010. These allowed for all vehicles capable of carrying a wheel chair being placed on a list by the Council (Section 167) leading to any driver that uses a vehicle on this list having a duty under Section 165 to:



- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair
- Not make any additional charge for doing so
- If the passenger so chooses to travel in a seat to make provision for proper and safe carriage of the wheel chair
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried in safety and reasonable comfort
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required

Since enactment in April 2017 issues with discrimination have not reduced as much as expected and further change occurred with one of two 2022 Acts put in place (see below).

The two 2022 Acts make small but significant changes. The 2022 Acts are the "Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Safeguarding and Road Safety Act) (31 March 2022)" and the "Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) (28 June 2022)".

The first makes it mandatory for any licensing authority in England that has information about a taxi (hackney carriage) or private hire vehicle (phv) driver licensed by another authority that is relevant to safeguarding or road safety concerns in its area to share that information with the authority that issued that drivers licence.

The second amends the Equality Act 2010 to place duties on taxi and phv drivers and operators such that any disabled person has specific rights and protections to be transported and receive assistance when using a taxi or phv without being charged extra for doing so.

Regard has also been had to the Statutory Taxi and Private Standards July 2020 which were published on 21 July 2020 and represented a milestone in transportation regulation, because for the first time the safeguarding of children and vulnerable people were put right at the heart of the taxi licensing system. This publication also noted that a more complete review of all sections of the 2010 Best Practice Guidance would occur in due course and consultation on a draft of this new document ran from March to June 2022.

At the time of writing of this report, no date had still been given for formal publication of the new DfT Best Practice Guidance following the close of the consultation period.



Recent Research and Reviews

With respect to the principal subject of this survey, local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusion (Law Commission, Taxi and Private Hire Services, Law Com No 347, May 2014, ref CM8864) included retention of the power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- year horizon also be used for rank reviews and accessibility reviews. In the end, no comprehensive legislative review occurred and the focus is now on the expected updated BPG22.

During the pandemic, the DfT formally advised authorities to delay unmet demand reviews beyond this three-year interval as they advised any review in the midst of the pandemic was not sufficiently typical to be of value. Most authorities accepted this advice and in particular this survey was delayed till Autumn 2022 when it was felt operations were closer to normal than they had been for some significant while. Our current experience of several surveys is that there is change arising from the pandemic affecting most licensed vehicle operations but that the overall operations are now effectively back to normal.

Alternatives to limiting vehicle numbers

A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no 'quantity' control felt to exist per-se, is that of 'quality control'. This is often a pseudonym for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage licences are available, which often are given 'grandfather' rights to remain as saloon style.

Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few authorities only allows 'London' style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle, and the Metrocab (no longer produced).

Others allow a wider range of van style conversions in their wheel chair accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also allowing rear-loading conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, this often implies a restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade.



Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing between hackney carriages and private hire is a 'Taxi' roof sign on the vehicle, although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they do not say 'Taxi', some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire fleets.

More recent considerations have added how greater and speedier introduction of more sustainable vehicle propulsion might be encouraged in the licensed vehicle fleets. Air quality zones have also had significant impacts, and in many areas more recently agglomeration of councils has modified overall policies towards licensed vehicles.

Further, the plans to introduce Section 161, and the determination of a proportion of WAV that any fleet must have by the Secretary of State (a quota), are a long way from even any consultation being undertaken. This issue was considered by the Law Commission but they stated `we did not consider quotas of wheel chair accessible vehicles to be a suitable issue for treatment within a national licensing framework' (Law Commission Final Report para 12.60), nonetheless they reiterated that any such quotas should be decided by individual licensing authorities in response to local needs. They also quoted DPTAC suggestion the quota should be over 30% and that the Joint Committee on Mobility for Disabled People had suggested a minimum of 50% (Law Commission Final Report para 12.61). The often quoted 35% quota was from an earlier European Research document.

The Index of Significant Unmet Demand (ISUD) Tool

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this 'index of significance of unmet demand' (ISUD) became accepted as an industry standard tool to be used for this purpose.

Some revisions have been made following the few but specific court cases where various parties have challenged the policy of retaining a limit.



Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authorities. This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather than just at the snap-shot taken every three years. However, the three-year survey horizon has become generally accepted given the advice of the BPG and most locations that review regularly do within that timescale.

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland).

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key encouragement within the BPG is that "an interval of three years is commonly regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys". BPG suggests key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation and publication of "all the evidence gathered".

Unmet Demand Case History

In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole.

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away from rank locations).

2019 saw three challenges with respect to surveys of unmet demand. All three found in favour of the current methodology being undertaken. A key focus was the need for a robust and up to date independent survey report being available.



In one case it was made clear the current guidance is based on the 2010 BPG, which supercedes previous notes and DfT advice, whilst in another case having a valid survey meant those challenging had no case for their proposed challenge, and in the final case an authority was clearly told they could not rely on a very old survey which itself could not be produced. In the end a fresh survey was undertaken, finding no unmet demand, but undertaken on the established standards only.

In general, industry standards suggest (but specifically do not mandate in any way) that the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet demand should take into account the practicability of improving the standard of service through the increase of supply of vehicles.

It is also important to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for the same authority over time, although apart from the general guidance of the BPG there is no clear stipulations as to what this means in reality, and certainly no mandatory nor significant court guidance in this regard.

The 2010 Best Practice Guidance stated "Most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best practice." This is restated in the currently draft new Best Practice Guidance.

This new draft Best Practice Guidance also adds para 9.3 quoting "The Competition and Markets Authority was clear in its 2017 guidance "Regulation of taxis and private hire vehicles: understanding the impact of competition" that "Quantity restrictions are not necessary to ensure the safety of passengers, or to ensure that fares are reasonable."

To summarise, the Department for Transport Best Practice Guidance only references 'quantity restrictions' and that not imposing them is regarded by the Department as 'best practice'.

At the current time (June 2023), based on the March 2022 DfT statistics and our current knowledge from other studies and discussions, around 25% of the licensing authorities in England retain a limit on the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences in a strict numerical manner consistent with Section 16 of the 1985 Act. A small number only restrict numbers within one part of their area. Several recent unitary authorities have been the main reason for a number of reductions in limit policies although the most notable removal of limits in the last year has been Cornwall removing limits from its three regulated zones, whilst still at present retaining six zones overall.



Cross Border and Sub Contracting Implications

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private hire. At first, under the 'Stockton' case, this was hackney carriages operating as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but the interpretation of this has become quite wide.

The 'triple lock' licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing.

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using `apps' on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how `apps' usage sits with present legislation.

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and therefore on unmet demand and its significance.

During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on taxis produced its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for revision to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for local authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made within the Report. The Government has broadly supported the recommendations of this Task and Finish Group.

Despite some opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits on hackney carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also supporting adding a tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited where appropriate, given reasonable explanation of the expected public interest gains. This latter option is now being taken forward in Scotland, with two studies published and the Scottish Government preparing guidance, although the Government response did not support this option.

As already stated, other groups have provided comments giving their views about licensing matters but the upshot remains no change in legislation from that already stated above. The Scottish Government are moving forward in terms of their application of the potential limiting of private hire vehicle numbers but this is specific to Scottish law and not presently relevant to the English licensing authorities. The "Protecting Users Statutory Guidance" (now the "Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards" (STPHVS) was issued in July 2020 for application and advice of such application to DfT by the end of January 2021. Whilst again the taking forward of the wider BPG review is mentioned in terms of a further consultation, exact times for this nor the likely implementation date for this are not given. The April 2010 BPG therefore remains valid for our review.

For completeness, STPHVS seems to require by the end of January 2021 (subject to the continued impact on time resources of the COVID-19 pandemic) the following:

- Making publicly available a cohesive taxi licensing policy document
- Clearly documented ways the licensing authority will share information between relevant stakeholders
- Provision of a robust system for recording complaints that is clearly made known to passengers
- Sufficient training for those making decisions about licence issue
- Clear assessment of option of mandating CCTV in vehicles
- Specific requirements for private hire company records

Coronavirus

The serious Covid-19 virus took hold in the UK during March 2020. Whilst life carried on almost as normal until mid-March of the same year, formal lockdown was applied from Tuesday 24th March 2020 until 24th February 2022 when final restrictions were removed. Significant reductions in movement had begun to bite from the previous week. The last dates in 2020 when on-street and rank surveys occurred in other areas were effectively Sunday 16th March 2020. Up to that point regular review on the three-year timetable had begun to be much more widely accepted.

The licensed vehicle trade was one of a few industries permitted to continue to operate throughout the pandemic and various lockdowns, albeit in a range of different ways due to reduced demand.

The lockdown began to be eased on 13th May 2020 in some sectors, with people encouraged to return to work if they were not able to work from home. Restrictions on outdoor exercise, golf courses, tennis courses and socialising at distance, with restart of construction also allowed. From 15th June 2020, bars, restaurants and hairdressers were allowed to return to a 'new normal'. The next wave of easement occurred on 4th July 2020.



However, a range of different re-restrictions were applied in various locations as cases began to rise again. Schools were re-opened in September, but a new 'rule of six' was introduced shortly after reducing the ability of people to socialise as rates of infection rose again, together with a 22:00 hours close time for all hospitality venues. In general, new restrictions tended to be introduced with a few days lead in but this ended with a new lockdown from Thursday 5th November2020 ending on Wednesday 2nd December 2020 that year.

After that, new Tiers were introduced (to try to minimise restrictions in parts of the country where the virus was less dominant) and then again another national lockdown was applied from early January 2021 but with the start of vaccinations providing some hope of an eventual overcoming of the impacts of the virus.

As levels of vaccination increased and infection / hospitalisations and deaths reduced, a new road out of lockdown was announced and implemented. The final stage, removal of most English restrictions, was delayed about a month but was finally instigated towards the end of July 2021. The Government focus has since then been on 'coping with the virus' although as Winter 2021 progressed infection levels tended to move upwards.

Later in Winter 2021 appearance of a new variant led to further concern and encouragement to partake in a booster vaccination programme as well as taking further care about interaction. Mask wearing was returned to being a legal requirement at the start of December 2021 in many, but not all of the previous circumstances. The situation around Christmas 2021 was very tense. Working from home was reinstated towards the end of 2021.

Early 2022 saw more confidence that the 'omicron wave' could be survived although in early January 2022 there was pressure on many industries arising from staff isolating. Various methods were being considered to minimise the impact of need to self-isolate. On 24th February 2022 all legal restrictions in England were removed with the focus clearly moving to 'living with the virus' although unintended consequences of rising fuel and other prices from the reopening of the economy were also exacerbated by the current issue of the Ukraine occupation.

During Autumn 2022 there was a high level of COVID infection but the link between infection and serious illness appeared to have been broken, although the need to keep levels of immunity to severe disease may well lead to further immunisation as time proceeds. Another booster injection was starting to be rolled out as part of the vaccination strategy.



Overall, the pandemic led to a significant period of lack of business for both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, in various ways as the pandemic developed. Some of the impacts of this are discussed in public and driver attitude chapters below, as well as review of impact on demand in the rank chapter. More significant was the reappraisal of many as to their involvement with the taxi industry, and the general job market churn that was instigated not just in the taxi arena. In many areas there is clear knowledge that many who planned to retire brought that date forward whilst others found that the certainty of income from delivery driving was preferable to the vagaries of taxi passenger demand.

Various contract work appears to have remained a constant during the pandemic however (school transport, health transport and so on). However, airports were particularly badly hit resulting in many private hire vehicles being unusable, whilst rail patronage remains reduced with patterns of travel strongly revised towards off-peak travel.

Yet others found the shortage of private hire drivers meant more requirement on hackney carriages in the daytime, in turn meaning they could earn more in the week, and not be reliant on servicing less-preferable customers in the early hours of Saturday and Sunday morning.

A further issue we have observed is that even pubs, restaurants and night venues are now reducing their opening hours or days in reaction to rising costs and staff shortages. This can lead to taxi demand in an area becoming peaky or peakier with such change. This means spikes in passenger demand for licensed vehicles, which is always harder to meet in a timely manner for a given level of vehicles particularly in the later and night-time economy hours?

Further, the impacts of the developing war in Ukraine and other economic changes partly arising from Brexit is again putting pressure on costs of providing licensed vehicle services. Rising fuel prices have also added to the issues, albeit counter-balanced with an increase in fare charges for some authorities. A further knock-on has been change to how those involved in the trade interact with their licensing authorities, with most face-to-face contact effectively removed.

The days when the main aim of a demand survey was checking if passenger demand had changed to see if supply remained sufficient have now been replaced by a much wider research need to identify both demand and supply side changes (such as drivers working shorter weeks, more time by drivers undertaking contracts or diversifying as delivery drivers changed passenger use of ranks and locations arising from matters such as reduced rail travel, etc).



Even long-standing areas with limited hackney carriage vehicle numbers have been impacted by having spare hackney carriage vehicle licences available for the first time in decades. However, our experience suggests that even spare plates and reduced demand can still result in unmet demand increasing as a result of change in the range of elements that need to balance to provide better public service.

Conclusions to this Chapter

In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public farepaying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers. Further, the jurisdiction focusses on the vehicles, drivers and operators but rarely extends to the physical infrastructure these use (principally ranks).

The vehicles are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait at ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any passenger uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, they are not generally considered to be insured for their journey.



2 Local background and context

Key dates for this Unmet demand survey for Stevenage Borough Council are:

- appointed LVSA a joint trading name of CTS Traffic and Transportation and Vector Transport Consultancy on 12th October 2022
- in accordance with our proposal of September 2022
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 5th October 2022 (by phone)
- this survey was carried out between October 2022 and January 2023
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in November and early December 2022 (on Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday)
- the video rank observations occurred at from 10th to 13th November 2022
- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed by an all-driver survey through January and February 2022
- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey
- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client
- Delays to reporting arose purely from time constraints for both client and consultant and not for any other reason related to the study
- and reported to the appropriate Council committee.

Stevenage Borough Council is one of ten districts within the County of Hertfordshire. The authority has a current population of 89,500 (2021) using the 2021 estimates currently available from the 2011 census. This is a marginal increase since the last survey. It was the first new town, set up in 1946.

In terms of background council policy, Stevenage Borough Council sees its transport policy set by the higher tier County authority. Highway powers are also held by Hertfordshire but Stevenage itself retains direct highway powers for the central Stevenage roads.

The current focus by Hertfordshire County Council is development of a longterm transport planning framework, known at the Hertfordshire 2050 Transport Vision. This is based on an evidence-gathering stage, completed in 2015, followed by broad options which are currently being developed through engagement with stakeholders. These will be taken forward in short to medium term packages and long-term concept scenarios to keep these in context. The focus is on forward planning of major schemes where needed, but supported by complementary initiatives that help harness the full benefit of the larger schemes.



Stevenage produced a document "Future Town, Future Transport" in 2019 to take forward the County Local Transport Plan 4 in the local setting. It has four themes, connectivity, liveable streets, active and healthy travel and green travel.

The current framework joint working between County and District is provided by LTP4 and the North Central Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan. Implementation will occur using the Short Term Action Plan 2019-2022 (including relocation of the bus station to improve interchange with rail services, which had a significant impact on the central Stevenage taxi rank). Both the Stevenage Borough Local Plan and Hertfordshire LTP 4 plan to 2031 feed the medium-term action plan. There are no specific mentions of licensed vehicles in these plans, as is typical despite DfT encouragement in the BPG that taxis should be included in transport policy documents, although this is principally an issue for the higher County authority.

However, all licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles, drivers and operators serving people within their area. Stevenage Borough Council has chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and as far as we are aware has done so since statistics were formally recorded in 1994. By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed.





Key – 1994D: DfT Stats 1994 (etc); 2012 N National Private Hire Association Statistics; 2022C (etc) – Council statistics for dates given; coloured lines as defined at bottom of diagram, LV=total licensed vehicles, hackney carriage (hcv) plus private hire (phv). DD = total dual drivers (total d, total drivers, sum of hackney carriage (hcd), private hire (phd) and dd.

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date



The graph shows a general decline in private hire vehicle numbers from a peak in 2015 when they were more than twice the number of hackney carriages. There was a slight resurgence in 2019 but then decline returned which was increased strongly by the pandemic. The low point saw the private hire fleet down to 147, no more than 1.5 times the level of hackney carriages although there has been some return since then but only in very small numbers, with the fleet at 151 about the time of the survey in 2022.

Since 2009 dual driver numbers have approximately followed the total number of vehicles, with very little recent evidence of any sharing of vehicles. The transfer to dual driver licensing is also notable although this was now some while ago. The decline in drivers was not as sharp during the pandemic as that for vehicles although its minimum level was a year later than the dip of vehicle numbers. There has been some growth back since March 2022 to the time of the survey but again only marginal.

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private hire being wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all.





Key – 1994D: DfT Stats 1994 (etc); 2012 N National Private Hire Association Statistics; 2022C (etc) – Council statistics for dates given; coloured lines as defined at bottom of diagram.WAV = wheel chair accessible vehicles from DfT survey (not necessarily s167 values).

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet

The graph above shows a very stable level of WAV in the hackney carriage fleet although there is a slight dip very recently which may have been an impact of the pandemic, although this was not significant. On the private hire side there was a major drop just in advance of the pandemic although more have returned to private hire just in advance of the survey.



Operator numbers have been generally declining although again the most recent information around the time of the survey suggests a small increase there as well.

Overall, all figures seem to suggest that the time of the survey was one when the industry had begun to return to more normal levels of demand with vehicles and drivers all seeing marginal resurgence.

National levels of WAV

From the latest March 2022 DfT statistics, the average WAV level over all English licensing authorities, excluding London was 40%. When the 58 authorities that have 100% WAV fleets are removed, this proportion is 22%. The overall level of phv WAV is 4% overall and 5% for the mixed fleet only authorities. Overall WAV levels are 13% in total and 11% for the mixed fleet only authorities. At the time of that survey, Stevenage saw 30% hcv WAV, 2% phv WAV and 13% overall WAV putting it generally ahead of most authorities in overall provision and hcv WAV provision. In fact, Stevenage was 56th equal out of the 206 authorities with mixed vehicle fleets in terms of the percentage of hcv WAV.

Limit Reviews

Stevenage Borough Council undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 2017, 2013, 2005 and 2002, with intermediate higher-level reviews of the policy which determined that unmet demand detailed reviews were not necessary where the gap was longer than the standard three years. The current review was delayed by DfT guidance suggesting the need to wait until demand was more normal before undertaking fresh surveys after the pandemic. This made the gap to the previous survey in the order of over five years, with 2017 rank data collected in June and the current survey in November 2022. Our experience suggests that the delay was reasonable and that this survey was undertaken at the earliest sensible time following the pandemic.


3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)

As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in Stevenage Borough Council is generally under the control of the higher tier authority, although it has direct powers for central Stevenage roads. Appendix 2 provides a list of ranks in Stevenage Borough Council at the time of this current survey.

Our methodology involves a current review both in advance of submitting our proposal to undertake this Unmet demand survey and at the study inception meeting, together with site visits where considered necessary. This provides a valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage which is important to feed the numeric evaluation of the level of unmet demand, and its significance (see discussion in Chapter 7). The detailed specification of the hours included in the sample is provided in Appendix 3.

Since the last survey, there have been no changes to rank locations, but the Bus Station has been relocated nearer to the railway station (June 2022) which removes some of the key demand for the only relatively recently introduced rank in Danestrete. It is understood that other changes in due course may return the benefit of a rank in that location but at the time of the survey there was very little footfall around that location. The new bus station has improved access across Lytton Way to the rail station, which could also mean passengers from the station may use buses rather than the hackney carriages.

In the Leisure Park, there has been continual change in operators of venues, with the latest operator claiming to offer a different mix of facilities, which they claim are more akin to the likely client base. This remains serviced by the rank near to McDonalds although this is privately provided and marked by the Leisure Park owners. For this survey in 2022 it was made clear that permission was unlikely to be granted for any survey work of ranks within the Park.

In order to remediate for this loss of information, cameras were installed on the two entry points to the Leisure Park and vehicle types observed entering and leaving over the survey period (for all three evenings). Although a large number of vehicles were observed entering and leaving both exits, the number of observed hackney carriages for the full period was just 33 – suggesting the ranks are now very little used. It is likely that app-based private hire may well have supplanted the hackney carriage offer although this is not certain.

In any event, the rank provision there is private such that even if unmet demand was observed there, there would be very limited actions any Council could take to encourage more vehicles to meet the need if not encouraged by the market.



At all other active ranks, cameras were installed to cover the three day period of the rank observations. Care was taken to mount these as far as possible to avoid detection by those servicing each location, to minimise potential issues from data protection whilst ensuring they were close enough to allow any passenger or vehicle waiting to be adequately monitored. Our current equipment is much smaller yet more powerful than previously which allows much better and more secure / robust monitoring. On their introduction, one licensing officer asked us if we had mounted cameras in the right town, and when their location was explained he said he had thought they were seagulls.

Overall rank usage

The rank observations in early November 2022 were analysed and an overall graph produced covering the actual observations. For this survey, all ranks were observed on the Thursday, Friday and Saturday, although it was found that the Danestrete / Westgate location saw very little usage, only on the Friday. Due to refusals from the private site at the Leisure Park no passenger data is available for that location. However, this is not an issue as already stated as any unmet demand there cannot be easily revised by the Council given its location on private land and any subsidiary requirements applied by the owners.

As noted above, our current camera systems are even less obvious than those previously and are very unlikely to have been observed by anyone whose behaviour might then have been changed. The station rank needed even more care given that it is a private location.





Note – vertical axis is total passengers at each rank in given hour, horizontal is hour of day and day of week.

The graph shows that the area has a peaky demand profile, with relatively little daytime demand but quite high night demand, principally on Saturday night. On the Saturday, both High St and the station are busy late, although High Street as on Friday continues later, although the total peak flow of 219 at all ranks in the Saturday midnight hour is 73% made up from station flows. There is no flow from the station rank after the 01:00 hour in the early hours of Sunday whereas before that flows at that rank were continuous with the only zeroes being 03:00 and 04:00 Friday and 03:00 Saturday mornings.

During daytime the principal demand is at the station, with very small amounts of trade from the hospital and next to nothing now from the Danestrete / Westgate rank. The High Street rank provides good levels of evening demand, but mainly on Friday and Saturday nights although some Thursday demand was observed.



Summary of average rank usage

The individual day observations were then developed into approximate estimates of average weekly usage of ranks, in a similar manner to that undertaken for the previous surveys. The table below compares, with the busiest rank at the top of the table, across the surveys undertaken.

Rank	2022		201	17	2014		2005		2002	
	Pass	%	Pass	%	Pass	%	Pass	%	Pass	%
Station	3,384	79	5,248	68.5	4,492	64	4,485	66	2,104	43
High St Nbd	825	19	1,432	18.7	1,442	20	Not ir	ntro	Not in	tro
Old Stevenage	Replac	ed	Repla	aced	Repla	ced	0	0	Not o	bs
Leisure Park	No permis	ssion	921	12	810	12	1,533	22	1,442	29
Westgate	See Danes	strete	37	0.5	Not in	itro	Not ir	ntro	Not in	tro
Swingate	Replac	ed	Repla	aced	227	3	832	12	801	16
Lister Hospital	75	1.8	20	0.3	42	1	Not c	bs	Not o	bs
Danestrete	10	0.2	Not	obs	25	0.0	23	0.0	606	12
High St Sbd	Replac	ed	Not	obs	Unus	ed	Not ir	ntro	Not in	tro
Totals	4,294		7,6	58	7,03	88	6,87	73	4,95	3
Growth from prev year	-44		+9	9	+2		+39	9	n/a	
Growth from 2002	-13		+5	5	+42	2	+39	9	n/a	

The 2022 figures exclude any numbers at the Leisure Park although our evidence suggests there is very little hackney carriage based demand now. The site has some 1,200 free car park spaces but provides no further information about travel other than by car.

The table shows further focus on the rail station rank although the share for High Street remains similar at 19% of the 44% lower overall total. Lister Hospital share has increased, but the main change is no demand from the Leisure Park (which we believe is a true loss from evidence we have). Further, the expected development of usage of the new rank at Danestrete/Westgate has not materialised given the closure of the Bus Station and refocus of town centre demand.

Usage of ranks by those with disabilities

Record was made of any persons using the ranks either in wheel chairs, or who appeared to be disabled by those watching the footage. The survey period saw one person travelling in their wheel chair, at the Hospital rank (none were seen last time), with six (three last time) people who appeared to be disabled accessing hackney carriages at ranks. There was one observation at High Street and five at the station (last time there was one at each of Westgate, High Street and the station ranks). This suggests some increase in usage by those dependent on adapted vehicles.



Across the surveyed rank hours there were 34% of vehicles observed that were WAV style. This was 47% of the total hackney carriage observations. The level of WAV at the High Street rank was much higher – 65%, with the station seeing 43%, hospital 38% and Westgate 18% (of the small number of vehicles there). This suggests the focus is on the higher carrying capacity of the vehicles rather than their WAV ability.

Abuse of ranks

Observations also noted other vehicles at or near the ranks observed. During the course of the survey, there were around 5,300 observations of activity at or near the ranks. Of these, 73% were distinct vehicle movements (single direction).

Of this number, 25% (17% last time) were private cars, the bulk of which were at the Westgate and Lister Hospital ranks, which are within other highway uses and therefore open to abuse. 1% (2% last time) of movements were goods vehicles. Just 1.5% (3% last time) of movements were private hire vehicles. There were a very small number of out of town vehicles and emergency vehicles (six and four respectively in total).

The remaining 72% (78% last time) of observations were of Stevenage hackney carriages, of which 53% (55% last time) were saloon style and 47% (45%) appeared to be WAV style. This is a much higher proportion than in the actual fleet. Further, the focus of WAV style vehicles observed was at the High Street rank that suggests the main use of such vehicles is for their capacity rather than their WAV status (65% of vehicles there were noted as WAV).

Vehicle activity levels

A test was undertaken on the Friday and Saturday of the survey to identify how many of the hackney carriage fleet were active during those days. Six different 1.5 hour periods were covered at three different locations for appropriate times.

Some 396 vehicle movements were identified, of which 365 were legitimate Stevenage hackney carriages, with the remainder 22 private hire vehicles and nine vehicles that could not be matched to local hackney carriage or private hire plates.

The observed hackney carriages on the Saturday were found to account for 67% of the fleet, the same percentage as in the previous survey. When the Friday data is included the percentage of the fleet seen rises to 72%, not a great increase given a full extra day of observations were added. The actual level of vehicles seen on the Friday alone was 58%.



Compared to 2017, overall vehicle frequencies in terms of how many times specific vehicles were seen were very similar. The most frequent vehicle was seen ten times, with the highest number of vehicles seen once (16 vehicles). The graph below presents the distribution of the frequency of hcv observation for the Saturday observations in both 2017 and 2022. These two distributions are very similar:



Note: vertical axis is total number of plates seen at the frequency shown in the horizontal axis.

Considering the two days of plate observations, Saturdays tend to see more vehicles active in the later periods at High Street, but the same level at the station. The highest proportion of vehicles seen, some 31% of the fleet, was in the two periods from 22:00 onwards at Stevenage station on both Friday and Saturday. The number of vehicles active at High Street doubles from the earlier period to the later period (10% to 22% Friday and 10% to 24% Saturday).

Comparing the two Saturday data sets from 2017 and 2022, the earlier High Street period saw 7% of plates in 2017 but 10% in 2022, but for the later period the values are opposite, being 36% in 2017 but only 24% now. A similar pattern applies to comparison of the first two Saturday station periods although the latter period is only marginally reduced from 32% in 2017 to 31% now. The earlier period rises from 23% in 2017 to 28% now. This suggests an element of the national pattern of reduced levels of vehicles tending to work late night Saturdays now compared to 2017 is also occurring here.



Overall, this suggests there is spare capacity in the fleet based on the demand and supply levels identified but that as in most other surveys undertaken, vehicles are focussing more now away from late night Saturday work. As already noted, this is a national trend whereby those in the trade are choosing to prioritise working at times preferred and away from times when customers might be more difficult to service. Page left intentionally blank.



4 General public views

It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more.

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney carriages waiting at ranks.

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken.

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (eg of students, or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only be indicative taken alone.

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample has become biased in any way.

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council citizens' panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached.



Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. For this survey, 200 interviews were undertaken on a Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday in late November / early December in the main part of the current Stevenage town centre. No other options were taken for sharing the questionnaire more widely.

The gender and age structure of the interviews was compared to the latest 2021 census values. Our survey interviewed about 4% more males than the census suggests (last time was only slightly biased to men). Both the lower and mid-age groups were underrepresented compared to the census (by 10% and 8% respectively) with the older group 17% over-represented. The mid age group had been overrepresented last time.

88% (71% last time) lived in the area (similar across both locations). Main other postcodes were LU1 and MK40, both relatively nearby.

For this survey, 73% in total said they had used licensed vehicles in the last three months (much higher than the 27% of last time). Of the total responses, 25% said they had used hackney carriage only, 14% private hire only and 34% by both kinds of vehicle. This suggests hackney carriage usage could be up to 59% of all persons interviewed, a very high level (although the level is most likely to be closer to 25%).

People were then asked how often they used licensed vehicles in the area. The results suggested a good average of 2.3 (was 1.4 last time) trips per person per month. The highest proportion, 41% said once or twice a month, followed by 16% once or twice a week with just 5% saying 'never'. Just a handful of interviewees did not respond.

When the same question was asked, but specifically about hackney carriages, the values dropped to 1.4 (0.2 last time) trips per person per month. This suggests 62% of use of licensed vehicles would be by hackney carriage – very similar to the result from the recent usage estimate of 59%. For hackney carriages, 34% said they made trips once or twice a month with 14% once or twice a year next highest.

People were asked how they normally got a licensed vehicle within Stevenage. 43% said they phoned, 32% said at a rank, 17% hailed and 8% used an app. There was no quoted use of Freephones or any other methods. Again, these values are in the same direction as the quoted usage of 59-62% (49% for normal methods).



People were then invited to tell us which companies they used to obtain vehicles. Just nine (seven last time) names were provided. 77% (17% last time) of those interviewed gave at least one response. 10% named three companies and 45% each named two or one.

There were four companies named with 15% or more of the total share, accounting for 93% of all mentions. The top company gained 33%, then 26%, then 19% and finally 15%. The third most popular was a national app-based company.

Compared to the previous survey, the top company has reduced share from 39% last time, the current second company has increased share from 10% and moved from fourth (this is the main mixed fleet private hire company in the area), the national app has moved up from fifth to third and from 6% to 19% and the fourth company has lost share from 24% previously. Another company has lost share from 16% previously to 1.6% now. Another company has lost share from 2% previously to 0.4% now (a single person naming them now)(although this is not a licensed Stevenage private hire operator). Two different companies were named this time but only received 1.2% and 1.6% respectively. The final company named last time, with 2% of mentions, which was not a local company, was not mentioned this time.

This does suggest significant change in the nature of private hire operations in this area, whilst putting the mixed fleet (hackney carriage and private hire) operator in a good light in terms of their increased share in the market.

When people were asked how often they used a hackney carriage in the Stevenage area, just one (none last time) said they could not remember seeing a hackney carriage, which is an encouraging result. However, 15% (reduced highly from the 28% last time) could not remember when they had last used a hackney carriage, so hackney carriages are in fact used more in the mix.

Compared to the last survey when just 17 people in total told us ranks they were aware of, 138 (69% of interviewees) gave us one or two ranks this time. 14% quoted two ranks and the remainder just one. However, compared to the seven ranks or locations last time, this time only the rail station and Westgate were mentioned, with no mention of High Street or Lister Hospital at all. 82% of mentions were for the station rank (41% last time). 48% of those naming locations said they used the location named. However, all but two of those quoting Westgate said they did not use it.

94% of interviewees provided their views about various aspects of the service provided on their most recent trip in a licensed vehicle (both hackney carriage and private hire). The overall picture is shown in the graph below:





The dominant view for all but three aspects was that current service was good. For the other three aspects, driver appearance, driver standard of hygiene and price, people said they felt average service was provided. However, only three elements scored 'very poor' although all scored some 'poor' scores. The most positive score was for driver knowledge of the area, where 35% said this was very good and 46% good, although it was also one of the 'very poor' scorers (but just 1%).

As is usual, price tended to score less well and had the lowest 'very good' score, but it did not score any 'very poor' either, and its 'poor' share was just 3% of respondents.

As is normal, a higher number of people (although given the good response to the previous question, not much more) (97% responded) provided the matters which might encourage them to use hackney carriages more. For this survey the dominant response (79% of all responses) was if they were more affordable (17% said if cheaper last time). 11% said more hackney carriages they could phone for (33% last time), 6% said more hackney carriages they could hail or get in the street (8% last time) and 2% each better drivers and a screen between driver and passenger.



People were asked if they had a disability, or they knew someone who had a disability, that meant they needed an adapted hackney carriage to travel. Compared to the very low response last time, this time most responded. The level of those not needing or not knowing anyone needing adaptation was 69%, suggesting a high level of need for adapted vehicles. All but one person needing an adapted vehicle said either they or someone they knew would need a WAV style vehicle. 20% said they knew someone that needed a WAV and 10% said they needed one.

None (7% last time) said they had ever given up waiting for a hackney carriage anywhere in the Stevenage area. This implies the very low 0.5% latent demand factor in 2017 is this time zero.

59% felt there were enough hackney carriages in the Stevenage area.

With respect to differences in levels of usage pre COVID to the time of the survey and then forward, 54% back and 49% forward said similar usage. Similar levels would use both kinds of vehicle either more or less although the focus was towards more increased usage looking ahead than between pre-COVID and the survey period. Generally, 6% each time said they would use each kind of vehicle less, although 13% said they used hackney carriages less now than pre-COVID.



People were asked their current views regarding COVID safety measures:

Key: E – essential, I – important – U – useful N – of no importance.

The graph shows most are no longer important, apart from for a screen between driver and passenger (25% said this was essential) with 19% saying that it was clear a driver had cleaned the vehicle remained essential. However, the overall view is such measures are now receding.



Page left intentionally blank



5 Key stakeholder consultation

The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the recommendations of the BPG:

- Supermarkets
- Hotels
- Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs
- Other entertainment venues
- Restaurants
- Hospitals
- Police
- Disability representatives
- Rail operators
- Other council contacts within all relevant local councils

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases there are very specific comments from one stakeholder but we have tried to maintain their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the authors of this report.

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area and not just specific parts or areas.

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are summarized separately in the following Chapter.

For this survey, we issued emails to a wide range of key stakeholders and gave them opportunity to respond using an on-line form. Just one individual responded. They said they used local licensed vehicles. They phoned for vehicles and were not aware of any ranks. They were a wheel chair user who could only travel in a wheel chair and said there were no companies providing such vehicles at all in Stevenage.



Page left intentionally blank



6 Trade stakeholder views

The BPG encourages all studies to include 'all those involved in the trade'. There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in their area.

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour.

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives. Some authorities cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to operators seeking they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle data head communications.

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly and measure response levels. For this survey the council issued the link electronically, with the existence of the survey advertised at a Forum meeting. This was issued at the start of January, giving four full weeks for return. There were some 49 (28 last time) responses, a good improvement from the previous two surveys. A check was made to ensure there were no duplicate entries or any other obvious ways to affect the results. None were found.

84% said the licensed vehicle trade was their main or only source of income. 10% worked part time with no other sources of income whilst the final 6% said they were working part time and had other sources of income.



Share of responses:

	2022	2017	2014
Hackney carriage	61	68	75
Private hire	33		
Drive Both	6		

61% (68% last time, and 75% previously) of responses were from hackney carriage. 33% were from private hire and 6% from those saying they drove both kinds of vehicle.

In 2022, the overall average length of service was 17 years (14 last time), however for hackney carriages the value was 21 (15), private hire 10 (11) and those driving both 18. Maximum years were 49 hackney carriage, 30 private hire and 27 years for those driving both.

	H	cv	Phv			
	2022	2017	2022	2017		
7 days	26	33	27			
6 days	43	50	43	33		
5 days	23		27	44		
4 days	4		3			
Did not work	4					
Average week	5.9		5.1			
Average hours	53	53	37	45		

Licensed Vehicles number of days worked:

(not all numbers shown for clarity, to highlight main changes)

For the hackney carriages, 43% worked six days (down from 50% in 2017), 26% seven (again down from 33%), 23% five, 4% four and 4% had not worked. For private hire, 43% worked six (up from 33%), 27% each for five (down from 44%, the highest for private hire in 2017) or seven and 3% four days (very similar to the hackney carriage). The three who drove both kind of vehicle worked five, six or seven days.

However, the average week was 5.1 days for private hire, 5.9 hackney carriage, 6 for those driving both and 5.7 across the full responses. Average hours worked were 53 (same as in 2017), 37 (45 hours in 2017), 52 and 48 respectively overall. These figures suggest shorter hours for private hire than hackney carriage. This is consistent with national suggestions that many private hire companies now tend to restrict working hours to protect their driver work-life balance. The maximum for hackney carriage drivers quoted was 80 hours, for both vehicle drivers 70 and for private hire 60, reiterating the results.



People were asked which kind of work they normally undertook. Many provided multiple responses. From all the responses, which covered all three different categories, 37% did immediate hire, bookings, 36% immediate hire ranks, 15% advanced hire, 9% contracts and 3% chauffeur or corporate. Half the contract work was for Hertfordshire, a quarter for 'Stevenage Taxi' 1.5% for a school and 12.5% for another specific transport company.

81% (86% last time) of the full sample said they owned and drove their own vehicle. Just 4% (reduced from the 7% of 2017) said someone else drove their vehicle at times they were not using it. All five of those responding to the question if sharing vehicles had changed since COVID said that it had, i.e. there has been a reduction in sharing of vehicles.

80% of those responding (92% of the total) said they accepted pre-bookings. 66% of these were via a company, 14% by a pda terminal, 14% by phone and 6% from return bookings.

	2022	2017
Station	44	35
Old Town	18	16
Town Centre	14	16
Lister Hospital	13	11
High St	8	5
Leisure Park	1	14

Rank usage

In terms of ranks served, the most frequent mentioned was the railway station, with 44% (increased from the 35% of last time) of all the mentions given by hackney carriage drivers. 14% (16% last time) said town centre, 18% (16%) Old Town, 1% (14%) Leisure Park, 13% (11%) Lister Hospital and 8% (5%) High Street. This seems to confirm the strong reduction of use of the Leisure Park rank noted in the rank work and shows the station has increased its share of provision of custom.

When asked what issues affected their choice of when to work, mainly hackney carriages responded. 23% said there was more lucrative work available at night (partly due to higher fare rates and partly due to less vehicles working) whilst 23% said they avoided working hours when passengers might be disruptive (presumably a different set of drivers). 18% said they worked around family commitments, 12% preferred mornings and 6% said they focussed on school work.

Of the six private hire respondents, two thirds said they worked to suit family life. The other two said mornings and when they had bookings.



All the hackney carriages told us how levels of rank passengers had changed from levels of three years ago, i.e. roughly pre-COVID. 70% said fares were down between 25 and 74%, 20% said 1-24% less, 3% said the same whilst 7% said up 1-24%. Many suggested the change to working from home was a major contributor whilst one mentioned a lot of work having gone to people using apps.

In terms of bookings, for hackney carriages 32% said these were down 25-74%, 24% said down 1-24%, 24% said they were the same, 8% said down 75 to 100%, 4% said up 1-24% and 8% up 25-74%; for private hire a third said down 1-24%, a third 25-74% less, 11% 75-100% less, 11% the same and 11% said up 75-100%. This presents a mixed picture, but generally a downward trend as for rank work.

74% of those responding felt there were enough hackney carriages in Stevenage at this time.

All but one answered the question if the limit remained appropriate.

Does the limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers remain appropriate?

	2022	2022					
	hcv	phv	Both	Average	Phv		
Yes	80	44	100	69	22		
No	20	50			78		

80% of hackney carriages responding said they felt it did. 50% (78% last time) of private hire did not feel it remained appropriate, although 44% (22% last time) of them did think it should remain. All those saying they drove both kinds of vehicle said they supported the limit. For the full set of respondents, 69% agreed with retaining the limit. This is a clear change in favour of overall views of the trade in retaining the limit and more notably from those in the private hire element of the trade, who often oppose limits, given that the main desire for restricted plates tends to be from private hire drivers wanting the hackney carriage 'freedoms'.

However, there were 20% of hackney carriage who did not agree with the limit most of whom reiterated the point by saying they did not feel the limit benefitted the public, but giving no further explanation.



A few suggested why they thought the limit benefitted the public. 43% said it restricted over-ranking, 43% said it helped customers recognise drivers and 14% said it reduced the level of drivers that felt they had to work long hours. Many simply pointed out there were already too many hackney carriages and that waiting time for fares was generally high. One person, however, suggested hackney carriage drivers picked when to work and often left people unable to get vehicles at ranks.

Most drivers never got people either travelling in wheel chairs or transferring from ranks, bookings or contracts (ranging from 33% to 75%). 27% said they got yearly wheel chair trips from ranks (29% for transferring) and 11% said monthly 9 (18% transferring). 3% said daily trips for ranks for both wheel chair and transfer travellers. For bookings these daily values increased to 12% and 15%.

35% of those answering the question (98% of respondents) said they were aware of drivers that had given up due to COVID. Numbers quoted varied from 1 (19% of respondents) to 30 (13% of respondents).

There were very few other comments as most had provided their views within the earlier questions providing option for comment. Many mentioned the high level of app-based companies they felt had taken a good proportion of work from both hackney carriage and private hire. Others spoke of need for a welllocated good central area rank. Some felt the station was the principal rank but that it was not fair they had to pay to use that location.



Page left intentionally blank



7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance

It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations, but can also occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant.

History of deriving the ISUD index

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. However, the index has various components which can also be used to understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle market.



ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even if other values are high.

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive (the off-peak factor). The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of a wider sample needs to be considered.

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger wait in that hour is greater than one minute (the general incidence of delay).

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who entered hackney carriages.

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools are active or not.



Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor tends to range from 0.8 for December to 1.2 for January / February.

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities.

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 (demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with taxi ranks outside).

Calculation of ISUD Index

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80.

In other words, multiplying:

- Average passenger delay by
- Off peak factor by
- General incidence of delay by
- Seasonal Index by
- Peak index by
- Latent demand factor

Changes in the individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just that averaging over a minute.



The change to a peaky demand profile can tend towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant, allowing for the fact that meeting peaky demand is much more difficult for the same size fleet.

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence.

As discussed above, the area has several council owned and operated ranks, but also two privately operated locations. The Leisure Park rank is on private land, but has no separate requirement for vehicle licensing. The station rank, is however, different, and needs a permit from the rail operating company, which is charged for. This restricts access to this location to a subset of the hackney carriage trade. The local council has very little control over this additional regulation given that the railway land is private and that the operators of the land can do as they see fit. This does mean that the council cannot influence easily the number of vehicles servicing this location.

This means that this particular rank needs careful consideration in terms of unmet demand and its significance, as the supplementary restrictions further complicate the issue were unmet demand found to be significant principally due to the station rank operation. However, case history also suggests that unmet demand must be considered across the area as a whole, rather than at one specific point, though this has to be tempered by the structure of the industry as some areas only have one active rank.

Year	2022	2	2017			2014	
Element	Council	All	Council only	All	Council	+	+ Stn
	only	ranks		ranks	only	Leisure Park	
Average pass delay (APD)(minutes)	0.05	0.38	0.3	0.25	0.13	0.25	0.22
Off Peak	16.67	22.5	0	12.5	19	19	17
Proportion of people in hours with over 1 min APD	0.12	14.62	12.87	11.66	1	4.4	4.2
Peak factor	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Latent demand	1.0	1.0	1.005	1	1	1	1
Seasonality	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Overall ISUD	0.05	63.03	ZERO	18.31	1.2	10.3	7.7

The table below compares elements of the unmet demand equation for each survey undertaken.



(Please note values quoted are from detailed calculations in the analysis software, so overall ISUD may not match number calculated using rounded values from Table above).

For this survey, our initial evaluation covers the council ranks only. For these, the average passenger delay for the observed hours was just 0.05 minutes (three seconds) although off peak delay levels were 16.67%, not the zero from 2017 that set the overall index to zero then. However, the overall index of significance of unmet demand is just 0.05, almost zero.

However, a test has to be done including the station even though this is a private rank. Average passenger delay (at 23 seconds), off peak delay and over a minute delay factors are all higher, and result in an index of 63.03, much closer to the level of significance value of 80. However, as already explained, even if this suggested more plates were needed, this would be futile as the Council could not ensure any of them ended up at the location as the control of plate numbers there is under independent control by the railway operator.

However, this does, as in the last survey, suggest there remains an issue with sufficient plates servicing the station rank which is shown up by the ISUD index implying poorer service there. This needs to be discussed with the rail operator although the level of ability to influence the Council has is limited, but this coul well colour public views of the overall service provided.

Further discussion of the overall impact of this occurs in context below within the summary and synthesis, ensuring the ISUD statistic is seen in full context of the overall information database available to determine how significant levels of unmet demand are at this snapshot.



Page left intentionally blank

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions

This Unmet demand survey on behalf of Stevenage Borough Council has been undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history regarding unmet demand and its significance. This chapter first provides a summary by chapter of our main evidence gathered. It then draws the individual evidence together to provide study conclusions. The final Chapter provides recommendations based on these.

Background and context

Stevenage has limited its number of hackney carriage vehicles since at least 1994 when this was first recorded in official DfT statistics. Regular independent surveys of unmet demand are undertaken alongside higher level review of the overall policy as appropriate. This latest independent review continues to use the current DfT Best Practice Guidance of April 2010 to guide our methodology, as well as drawing from appropriate case history and developing industry standards.

This survey began with appointment on 12th October 2022, seeing rank observations in November, on-street interviews in November/December, trade views during January / February 2023 and key stakeholder views through the full period of development of this report, up to early June 2023. Evaluation has been undertaken based on the current legal, guidance and research state of the art for unmet demand surveys as at June 2023.

Stevenage has a currently increasing population and is one of the districts within the higher tier Hertfordshire authority which generally has transport and highway powers, apart from in the central Town centre (an inheritance from the New Town nature of this town centre). Since the last study, the full Thameslink service has been introduced linking Stevenage directly to central London and Horsham / Brighton and all trains servicing the station are now made up of recently introduced rolling stock.

The new bus station is now adjacent to the railway station, albeit across an improved pedestrian route over Lytton Way.

Private hire vehicle numbers have reduced strongly since the last survey with strong reduction prior to the pandemic enforced by that period, with only small levels of resurgence since. The hackney carriage fleet with its limit remained stable with no known loss of vehicles due to the pandemic. Driver numbers did not fall as much and their reduction appeared to lag the drop in vehicle numbers. The dual driver nature of the operation means no distinction in changes of hackney carriage or private hire is possible.



In terms of wheel chair accessible content, the level has been stable at 30% of the hackney carriage fleet for some while, with a slight dip at one point, but with private hire WAV seeing a major drop just ahead of the pandemic with some resurgence ahead of the survey. Compared to national statistics, Stevenage is doing well for WAV provision particularly on the hackney carriage side.

Rank observations

Similar observations were undertaken in November 2022 to those undertaken in the previous surveys. Overall, demand for hackney carriages is peaky focussing on high night demand, with Saturday midnight seeing the major peak in passenger numbers, nearly three quarters of which come from passengers at the railway station.

Daytime demand is heavily focussed on the station, although the hospital does see small amounts of usage. The main supermarket does receive hackney carriage service, but only on a booking basis so this demand has not been included in the rank usage statistics. What was the developing town centre rank was unused at the time of the survey with the move of the bus station away from that location.

In terms of estimated typical weekly rank usage, the station provides 79% of estimated total demand, up from 69% last time. High Street on weekend nights sees a further fifth of the demand (same as last time) with the hospital providing just under 2% of passengers. Overall estimated weekly demand is down 44% with current flows the lowest ever recorded (back to 2002). Prior to this Stevenage had been against the national trend of patronage reduction having seen flows grow between each survey and the next (9% from 2014 to 2017 and 55% from 2002 to 2017, with no pre-pandemic values it is not totally clear what the full loss from the pandemic has been). These values exclude any Leisure Park passengers although we believe these are no longer of any great significance.

National rail statistics show a rail patronage decline of 30% over the period since the last survey whilst station hackney rank usage appears to have decreased by 36%, which appears consistent. The overall decline of 44% is partly accounted for by the changes in the retail park situation but mainly by the reduced rail patronage.



There was one passenger observed accessing hackney carriages at the hospital rank during our survey in a wheel chair (there were none at all last time), though six (three last time) apparently disabled persons were observed at High Street and the station ranks (one at High Street and five at the station). In terms of vehicle movements by hackney carriages, 47% (45% last time) of those observed were of vehicles with body styles that might be identified as WAV, a higher proportion than actually exists in the current fleet (30%). The concern here is that the fleet may give impression that it is more wheel chair accessible than in actuality, which could give rise to passenger frustration, although this has not actually changed since the last survey.

In terms of abuse of ranks, the Westgate and Hospital ranks, most open to abuse, were, as in 2017, the place of most private car abuse, with a higher 25% (17% last time) of all vehicle movements observed in our surveys being private cars at or near ranks. This is a national trend which we believe has developed more following the pandemic when people needing to use cars more found space at lesser used ranks and have tended to continue this usage even when the hackney carriages returned.

Private hire vehicles accounted for just 1.5% (3% last time) of movements. There were no discernible out of town vehicles observed in this survey.

The station rank remains on railway land and administered by a parking company authorised by the current train operating company. This reduces further the number of vehicles from the fleet which can use this location. However, there is a counter impact that some vehicles not able to use this location therefore service ranks which many not otherwise see as much use by vehicles, which leads on to more use by passengers seeing vehicles than might otherwise be the case. Again, this has not changed since 2017.

Two thirds of the available hackney carriages were observed active during the Saturday of observations (as in 2017). Activity levels were very similar to those in the previous two surveys. However, there was a notable switch with less vehicles observed in the later time periods, again a national trend whereby people find themselves able to earn more in preferred operating periods, with a reduced overall service level resulting.



On street public views

The on-street survey found 73% (27% last time) saying they had used a licensed vehicle in the area in the last three months, a strong increase from the low values found in 2017. Further, a relatively high 25% said they used hackney carriage only. The estimate of 62% of licensed vehicle usage being by hackney carriage from the frequency statistics is similar to the estimate from the stated methods of usage (max of 59%).

Trips per month were also higher than in 2017 for overall licensed vehicles and for hackney carriage usage. Overall the comparison between 51% using phone or app and 49% rank or hail is much closer than in most other recent surveys.

There also appears to have been strong competition since the last survey. It appears that most pure private hire companies have lost share whilst the mixed fleet (hackney carriage and private hire) company has gained share, as has an international app (but only taking it to third place in overall company mentions). This seems very healthy for the hackney carriage industry in the area.

Further, more people were aware of ranks, but this was principally for the station rank. Westgate rank was mentioned but all but two respondents said they did not use it. Overall, views of the service provided by licensed vehicles tended to be 'good'. Most positive was driver knowledge of the area. Most negative was price, supported by 79% of all responses to what might encourage people to use hackney carriages or increase use of them was if they were more affordable. The level of people seeking more hackney carriages to phone for was strongly reduced (33% last time to 11% now), with a slight reduction in call for more hackney carriages at ranks (8% last time, 6% now).

A high level of need for adapted hackney carriages was suggested, with the focus being wheel chair accessible styles. This was not borne out by actual usage although the current high level of WAV in the hackney carriage fleet and the high level of their incidence of usage seems to match the higher need identified.

Measurable latent demand has reduced from a very low 0.5% to zero this time. 59% felt there were enough hackney carriages in the area.



Key stakeholder views

The national trend of lack of willingness of key stakeholder to provide any comment regarding licensed vehicle services applied to Stevenage. Just one person responded, who mainly phone for vehicles and claimed there were no companies providing WAV style vehicles for their usage, which required them to travel in their wheel chair.

Trade views

An increased level of response (49 compared to 28 last time, which then was 10%) came to our on-line trade survey, to which drivers were alerted by a letter issued to them by the Council. 84% of respondents said the trade was their main or only source of income with 10% part time but with no other sources of income and 6% part time with other sources of income.

61% (68% last time) of these said they drove hackney carriages. Average experience was 17 (14) years and also showed a very good range of experience in terms of years.

Hackney carriage drivers tended to work longer hours (average of 5.9 (six) days / 53 hours compared to 5.1 (five) days / 37 (45) hours). Maximum hours were 80 hackney carriage and 60 private hire (having been similar for both kinds of driver in 2017). Nearly all were owner-drivers (but a reduced 81% compared to 86% in 2017).

Half (58% in 2017) of hackney carriages said they were related to phone circuits, with 75% (66% in 2017) of private hire stating this.

44% (35%) of all ranks quoted as used by the trade were the station, followed by 14% (16%) for town centre and 18% (16%) Old Town (with a further 8% (5%) for High Street), 1% (14%) for the Leisure Park, and 13% (11%) for Lister Hospital, suggesting a good use of all ranks but confirming the apparent loss of the Leisure Park location.

Interestingly, whilst 23% said there was more lucrative work available at night, 23% said they avoided these hours. Those saying they worked those hours said part of the reason was that less were now servicing those periods. There was a general statement that people now focussed work on quality of life rather than need for work.

80% of hackney carriages supported retaining the limit whilst 44% (up from 22% in 2017) of private hire also supported retention. This meant 69% overall were in support.



Concerns raised included the high level of app-based companies that they felt had taken a good proportion of work from both sides of the trade. Others spoke of need for a well-located central area rank. There was concern that the main rank had to be paid for in addition.

Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand

For this survey, excluding the station rank due to it being private, average passenger delay has reduced as has the proportion of passengers travelling in hours with over a minute average passenger delay, but off-peak hours with delay have changed from being zero to being 16.67%, meaning the ISUD index has increased from zero to 0.05, a long way from being significant.

The test including the private station rank saw all elements apart from latent demand increasing, with the overall index increasing to 63.04 from 18.31, which is still below the cut-off value of 80 which identifies unmet demand as being significant, but much closer to it. However, as already noted, even if the Council determined it needed to add more plates, the extra permit fee and requirement means these would almost certainly not benefit the service there.

Synthesis

Although the headline of a 44% reduction in passenger numbers since 2017 is a negative outcome from the survey, as is the loss of both the potential patronage for the main central rank and the private overnight rank, there are many other positive points identified.

The fact that hackney carriage vehicle numbers have been retained against a large drop in private hire, whilst the mixed (private hire and hackney carriage) operator being one of the two seeing gains in usage since 2017 compared to reductions for the larger private hire only operators in quotations, suggests the limit has had positive impacts for the public of Stevenage, and that the hackney carriage trade has fought back despite some clear increase in use of international app-based bookings. It appears that reduced private hire vehicle numbers may have been compensated for by more hackney carriages joining or undertaking more booked work.

While it is clear that one international app operation has gained patronage in the area there is also clear evidence that the hackney carriage trade also appears to have benefitted (albeit perhaps in bookings to the mixed fleet private hire operation element).

There remains need for a central area rank to replace the one that in the last survey was seen to be growing in usage before its main demand generator was removed.



Comparing the latest national rail patronage values to the estimated rank passenger departures suggests 10% of all rail arrivals at Stevenage station depart using hackney carriages from the rank there. Compared to the previous survey, rail passenger numbers are down 30%, whereas for the same period rank passengers are down 36%, relatively similar.

Yet despite this, the previous issue of poorer service to these customers remains (and must therefore relate to the imposition of the external restriction on access from the rail company). The exact issue of if more permits are needed or if current users need to be made aware of the issues would need further analysis (which could be undertaken).

Conclusions

There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the Stevenage area which is significant and requires issue of any further standard hackney carriage plates at this time.

There is significant need for the licensing authority to work with planners at both authority and county level to provide a public rank that is where need might be in the town centre, and to commit to developing this.

The increased reliance of hackney carriage on the station demand is a concern – albeit that within the confines of the restrictions the trade is doing its uttermost to provide services there. It is very unfortunate that the plans moving the bus station did not appear to consider this impact on what was believed to be a significantly developing rank at the time of the last survey. The fact there is no significant reference to hackney carriage or private hire in the latest transport policies is also an apparent omission that new Government policy may re-emphasise in due course (the new BPG, although the 2010 version did also reference need to include local licensed vehicles in Local Transport Plans).

The issue of poor service to some vulnerable persons still needs attention, although the bald statistics suggest the issue is more with marketing than with actual numbers. With regard to difficulties in getting appropriate vehicles (mainly by phone), further thought and action needs to occur, beginning with frank and open discussions between those with issues, licensing and the trade. The key must be engendering confidence in those with disabilities that they can get vehicles they need when they need them, a much harder matter to achieve.



It should be noted that the issue is not shortage of WAV style vehicles – there are more than the national average in the hackney carriage fleet – it is clear and advertised access to them that seems to be the issue.

Discussion is needed with the rail operator and its car park provider regarding the negative impact of their permit policy on customer service there – although this may not readily be possible.



9 Recommendations

On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Unmet demand survey for Stevenage Borough Council, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent which is significant at this point in time in the Stevenage Borough Council licensing area. The committee therefore has the option of retaining the current limit of hackney carriage vehicle numbers which could be defended if necessary.

There is need to identify a new town centre rank and encourage its use. This needs work between the trade, the council and the shopping centre to work out ways appropriate signing and advertising can be undertaken.

The issue of poor service to a small number of vulnerable people must be dealt with to enable them to travel safely and appropriately – this mainly relates to ensuring the good provision in the hackney carriage fleet can be accessed by those preferring to book vehicles.

The option of a demonstration day for wheel chair and other accessible vehicles could be considered. This would allow the trade, councillors and those needing access to such vehicles either for themselves or for clients, such as care home representatives, to interact and build good will in this very important area. We believe this option should produce more positive results than any immediate issue of further wheel chair accessible hackney plates. However, within the discussions with the trade, this option must also be included if improved service could be viewed as being vulnerable due to insufficient vehicle numbers.

Within these discussions there may be need for agreeing a clear way that wheel chair accessible capable vehicles were clearly identified, e.g. with some form of label as some authorities provide (e.g. Leeds). The issue of producing a list of wheel chair vehicles and drivers should also be seriously considered and the conclusions of this publicised.

These factors could be drawn together in an Integrated Service Plan as recommended by the currently draft new Best Practice Guidance, if this is recommendation is confirmed in due course.

Given the potential for further increase in demand, the next independent review should have rank reviews no later than November 2025. It may be prudent to review peak service at the station in March 2024.



From the trade point of view, the hackney carriage trade is perhaps in a better position than it may believe. There appear to be opportunities to market and grow their share particularly through the mixed fleet operation element which seems to have gained traction with the public.



Appendix – Detailed Calculations for ISUD index

The index of significance of unmet demand (ISUD) is an industry standard tool developed first when the 1985 Transport Act Section 16 was introduced. At time of first introduction, the determination if the level of observed unmet demand was significant or not was generally subjective by those undertaking the independent review. An objective index was developed and a set of in the order of 12 decisions reviewed in the light of the index. It was found that all determinations of the level of the ISUD index being significant saw the index calculated being 80 or above. This has become industry standard. Following court review, an extra element was added to cover observable latent demand, accepting this was almost certainly an underestimate.

The calculation of the various elements of the index comes from the rank data collected with the exception of the latent demand value which comes from specific questions in the public interviews.

Whilst some claim that the index is very accurate and precise and should not be used other than in a strict manner, our view is that it is a tool that needs to be used within the overall database of evidence in full context. As with all mathematical formulae, it can appear very precise and prescriptive. However, this is not our view, and on that basis we tend to quote the calculated values only to no more than two decimal places.

For example, a key start statistic is the average passenger delay. This is calculated from the rank observations. Whilst we calculate that from actual observations, some do this from a summary set of observations. It results in a number of minutes and seconds. The index requires this to be converted to a decimal format. Given that there are 60 seconds in a minute, this often results in very long accurate values, e.g. 1 second is 0.16666667 minutes. When multiplied by other similarly detailed values, very long detailed numbers can be generated.

For the sake of clarity and transparency, the detailed calculations to the full number of decimal places available are shown below for the two quoted 2022 values below:



	Council ranks only, i.e. less station	All ranks
Average passenger delay,	0.0500000000000000000000000000000000000	0 20222222222222222
minutes (APD)	0.05000000000000000	0.383333333333333300
Off peak proportion of hours	16.66666666666670000	22.500000000000000000
Overall proportion of total		
passengers in hours with over		
1 minute APD	0.12350761630300500	14.61506792918900000
Latent Demand	1.00000000000000000	1.0000000000000000000000000000000000000
Peak factor	0.5000000000000000	0.50000000000000000
Seasonality	1.00000000000000000	1.0000000000000000000000000000000000000
Overall ISUD	0.05146150679291890	63.02748044462740000

We have not provided the full detailed spreadsheet of rank observations that feeds the top three values although this can be provided if required. Whilst change could occur from detailed review, we do not believe that there are any changes which would lead to any reversing of the decisions made regarding unmet demand and its significance given the values are some way from the cut-off of 80.





APPENDIX B

TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING: BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE

March 2010

44. Many councils are concerned that the size of limousines prevents them being tested in conventional MoT garages. If there is not a suitable MoT testing station in the area then it would be possible to test the vehicle at the local VOSA test stations. The local enforcement office may be able to advise (contact details on http://www.vosa.gov.uk).

QUANTITY RESTRICTIONS OF TAXI LICENCES OUTSIDE LONDON

45. The present legal provision on quantity restrictions for taxis outside London is set out in section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides that the grant of a taxi licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number of licensed taxis 'if, but only if, the [local licensing authority] is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence would apply) which is unmet'.

46. Local licensing authorities will be aware that, in the event of a challenge to a decision to refuse a licence, the local authority concerned would have to establish that it had, reasonably, been satisfied that there was no significant unmet demand.

47. Most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best practice. Where restrictions are imposed, the Department would urge that the matter should be regularly reconsidered. The Department further urges that the issue to be addressed first in each reconsideration is whether the restrictions should continue at all. It is suggested that the matter should be approached in terms of the interests of the travelling public - that is to say, the people who use taxi services. What benefits or disadvantages arise for them as a result of the continuation of controls; and what benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the controls were removed? Is there evidence that removal of the controls would result in a deterioration in the amount or quality of taxi service provision?

48. In most cases where quantity restrictions are imposed, vehicle licence plates command a premium, often of tens of thousands of pounds. This indicates that there are people who want to enter the taxi market and provide a service to the public, but who are being prevented from doing so by the quantity restrictions. This seems very hard to justify.

49. If a local authority does nonetheless take the view that a quantity restriction can be justified in principle, there remains the question of the level at which it should be set, bearing in mind the need to demonstrate that there is no significant unmet demand. This issue is usually addressed by means of a survey; it will be necessary for the local licensing authority to carry out a survey sufficiently frequently to be able to respond to any challenge to the satisfaction of a court. An interval of three years is commonly regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys.

50. As to the conduct of the survey, the Department's letter of 16 June 2004 set out a range of considerations. But key points are:

• the length of time that would-be customers have to wait at ranks. However, this alone is an inadequate indicator of demand; also taken into account should be...

- waiting times for street hailings and for telephone bookings. But waiting times at ranks or elsewhere do not in themselves satisfactorily resolve the question of unmet demand. It is also desirable to address...
- **latent demand**, for example people who have responded to long waiting times by not even trying to travel by taxi. This can be assessed by surveys of people who do not use taxis, perhaps using stated preference survey techniques.
- **peaked demand**. It is sometimes argued that delays associated only with peaks in demand (such as morning and evening rush hours, or pub closing times) are not 'significant' for the purpose of the Transport Act 1985. The Department does not share that view. Since the peaks in demand are by definition the most popular times for consumers to use taxis, it can be strongly argued that unmet demand at these times should not be ignored. Local authorities might wish to consider when the peaks occur and who is being disadvantaged through restrictions on provision of taxi services.
- consultation. As well as statistical surveys, assessment of quantity restrictions should include consultation with all those concerned, including user groups (which should include groups representing people with disabilities, and people such as students or women), the police, hoteliers, operators of pubs and clubs and visitor attractions, and providers of other transport modes (such as train operators, who want taxis available to take passengers to and from stations);
- **publication**. All the evidence gathered in a survey should be published, together with an explanation of what conclusions have been drawn from it and why. If quantity restrictions are to be continued, their benefits to consumers and the reason for the particular level at which the number is set should be set out.
- **financing of surveys**. It is not good practice for surveys to be paid for by the local taxi trade (except through general revenues from licence fees). To do so can call in question the impartiality and objectivity of the survey process.

51. Quite apart from the requirement of the 1985 Act, the Department's letter of 16 June 2004 asked all local licensing authorities that operate quantity restrictions to review their policy and justify it publicly by 31 March 2005 and at least every three years thereafter. The Department also expects the justification for any policy of quantity restrictions to be included in the Local Transport Plan process. A recommended list of questions for local authorities to address when considering quantity controls was attached to the Department's letter. (The questions are listed in Annex A to this Guidance.)

TAXI FARES

52. Local licensing authorities have the power to set taxi fares for journeys within their area, and most do so. (There is no power to set PHV fares.) Fare scales should be designed with a view to practicality. The Department sees it as good practice to review the fare scales at regular intervals, including any graduation of the fare scale by time of day or day of the week. Authorities may wish to consider adopting a simple formula for

This page is intentionally left blank